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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

TERRENCE R. YOAST,
Plaintiff,

V. : CIVIL ACTION NO. 19 -720

POTTSTOWN BOROUGH, et al.,
Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Rufe, J. January 31, 2020

Plaintiff Terrence Yoast, proceedipo se filed a 254-page Amended Complaint
consisting of ninety three counts against thirty one defendats.Amended Gmplaint alleges
federal and state claims related to Yoast's landlendnt relationship with Aphrodite Hussain,
andlaw enforcemeri response to the dispufederal and state claims based on an alleged lack
of medical care while Yoast was a firial detainee in @unty jail;and state lawlaims against
the landlord and tets ofpropertylocated near Yoast’s rental property

Thethirty onedefendants can lmvidedinto threegroups: 1) Hussairhe terants and
landlords of a neighboring property, and attorneys and theirogrensiallegedly involved in
Yoasts dispute with Hussajr2) Police officerg“Pottstown Defendants’gndthe District
Attorney’s officeinvolvedin the disputgand 3 Defendarts associated ih the Montgomery
County Corectional Facility (“MCCF”)

In addition to Hussain, Group 1 consists djeet Singh, Catherine Halgjer, Leon
Smith, and Adrian Smith, who arHussaiis neighbors, and Edward and Jeanne Fonvbs

own the home in which the Stims and Hallinger liveDefendantlustin O’Donoghue, a lawyer

1 Doc. Nos. 50 & 52. Yoast filed a duplicate Amended Complaint as Doc. No. 52. A&lB0§2 containsome
exhibits that are missing from Doc. No. 50, at times, thésridrandum Opinion cites to Doc. No. 52.
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with Defendant Montgomery County Housing Authority (“MCHA”) and a partnéhw
Defendant Wisler Pearlstine LL.BndDefendanDonald Cheetham, an attorney enyad by
Defendant Legal Aid of Southeastern Pennsylvania (“Legal Ai®)also includd in this group.

Within Group 2, he Pottstown Defendanerethe Borough of Pottstown, Officer
Anthony Fischer, Officer John Schmalbach, Officer Jacob Martin, OfficerCasio, Officer
Jeffrey Potock, Cfficer Brett Cortis, Officer Chad Hart, Officer Corey Pfister, Corporaiigéa
O’Neill, Corporal Michael Long, Sergeant Michael Ponto, and former ChiéfaRilc
Drumheller.DefendantMontgomery CountyandDefendantDistrict AttorneyRobert Steke, are
sued based onaiims stemming from Yodst prosecution

Within Group 3, relatedto his claimthat he was denietiedial care Yoasthas sued an
unidentified John Doe defendant, Anthony Hoch, Prime@&edical, RyanVanDorick,
Timothy Stein, and Montgomery County.

l. BACKGROUND ?

A. Harassment Charges Related t@ext Messages Incidents

Yoast is the owner of a home in Pottstown, Pennsylvania which is a rental property, not
his home. On November 18, 2016, Aphrodite Hussain entered into a residential lease for the
seconefloor unit of the home. Sometime in December 2016, Yoast and Hussain became
embroiled in a dispute over the conditions of the home. As part of this dispute, on December 21,
2016, Hussain threatened Yoast with a suit for premises liability based on a skl énodnf a
dislodged handrail in the apartment. Hussain notified Yoast that she had edrtaersonal

injury attomeywho informed her that she had a viable claim against Yoast.

2 Unless otherwise stated, the background is drawn primarily from tmplamt and at this stage of the proceedings
is presumed to be true.



On December 27th, 2016, based on a series of text messages that Yoast sent Hussain,
Officer Fischer filed a harassment charge against Yoash, on January 9, 2017, based on new
allegations from Hussain of harassing text messages from Yoast, ardkesdtenining that
Officer Fischer had previously issued a citation against Yoast, O8demalbach filed
harassment charges against Yoake harassment charge filed by Officer Fischer was
withdrawn and added to the charges filed by Officer Schmalbach.

B. Harassment Charges Related to Alleged Mail Theft
On January 13, 2017, Plaintiff provided notice and entered the apafomarrepair.
Yoast alleges that Hussaméntionally left out an envelope from her personal injury attoforey
him to see. Yoast photographed the envelope, and because he believed that the damage to the
handrail had been caused by Hussain, he sent the photo to Defendant Justin O’'Donoghue, a
lawyer withMCHA. Yoast wanted the MCHA to amend the Complaint Inspection Report to
document that Hussain caused this damage. O’Donoghue rejected Yoast’'s request.

Yoast further alleges that O’'Donoghue was also employed as a patimetat firm of
Defendant Wisler Pearlstine LLP and, in this capacity, O’'Donoghue cedtanbther MCHA
employee and instructed her to inform Hussain that Yoast had stolen her mailnkinssai
consulted with Defendant Donald Cheetham, an attorney getployLegal Aid Cheetham
contacted the Pottstown Police to inform them that Hussain was the victim of mail@meft.
February 21, 2017, after interviewing O’'Donoghue and Yoast, and after allegeziiyngc

permission from Sergeant Ponto, Officer Portock filed a harassment clgargst & oast.

3 Plaintiff refers to this incident as alleged mail fraud.
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C. Harassment and Stalking Charges Related to Washing Machine
Incident

On February 26, 2017, based on Hussain’s request for a new washing machine, Yoast
enteredhe apartment to install one. While he was removing the broken washing machine from
the basement, Hussain informed Yoast than he was not supposed to be on the premises. Yoast
called Hussain a “bitch” and a “burahd told her to “mind her own business.” Hussain then
called the police. Officer Martin arrived, interrogated Yoast, and sehtshefor contraband.

Corporal O’'Neill and Sergeant Ponto then arrived on the scene and were informed by
Defendant Manjeet Siing a friend of Hussain’s, that Yoast had said “fuck you” to Hussain. The
police then ordered Yoast to leave the premises. Yoast explained that he had not entered he
apartment and did not need to provide notice to enter the property, but the officarsttid
gather his tools and leave. Yoast ignored the officers and went down to the basemeiiue cont
working. Despite Yoast informing the officers that they did not have permissionetotiee
basement, they followed him and threatened him with arrest if he did not leave.

After Yoast refused, Meill arrested him and transported him to the Pottstown Police
Station and charged him with stalking and harassraintiff was then arraigned, and bail was
set at $20,000 as requested by O’'Neill. Yoast was then transpoM&EiGB where he was held
until February 28, when he posted bail.

D. Harassment and Stalking Charges Related to Yoast Allegedly Kicking
Hussain's Car

On March 2, while picking up copies of the Criminal Complaint that O’Neill filed, Yoast
spoketo Officer Casid and told him that he needed to visit the property to take pictures but was

worried that Hussain would cause him problems. Yoast asserts that Otimiert@d him that it

4 Although Yoast refers to him as Officer Cascio, his name appears toibe Cas
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would not be an issue because he owned the property anevidmathough there was a stalking
charge filed against him, he would not be arrested. Based on Officer Casisisragaes, Yoast
drove to the property, took some photographs, and then drove awagvétche was plled
over by Officer Portoclsix block away. Whefficer Portock asked Yoast why he was at the
property, Yoast explained that he had to take photographs and that Officer Casio tolathim t
there would not be any issues with doing so. However, after conversing with dibeoffacers
who were in his police cruiser, Officer Portock returned and arrested Yoaser®fbrtock
explained that Yoast was under arrest for kicking Hussain’s car. OfficercRdrased this
assertion on Defendant Catherine Hallinger’s reportYbatt was yelling and kicking
Hussain’s car and Defendant Leon Smith’s report that he heard a disturbance, dutiof w
were reported to Officer Cortis. Defendants Adrian and Leon Sesite ina homeowned by
Defendants’ Edward and Jeanne Forbes, whiappsoximatelyt0feet away from Yoast’s
property. Hallinger is Leon Smith’s girlfriend and resides in the home las we

Officers Portock and Hart then transported Yoast to the police station. Yoast was charged
with stalking and harassmeRfficer Portock, aftediscussion with other police officers
including Chief Drumheller, Portock, O'Neill, and Ponto, requested that bail be set dti®i. m
At his arraignment, Officer Pfister advocated that bail be set at $1 milliont'¥ ba# was set at
$99,000. Rl condtions that Yoast would not enter the Borough of Pottstown or enter the
property he ownewere alsamposed. After approximately seven hours spent at the Pottstown
Police Station, Officer Long transported Yoast to MCCF.

E. Denial of Medical Care
When Yoast arrivedt MCCF on March 2, he informed an unidentified John Doe

defendant that he suffered from sleep apnea and requested that the facildg pnovivith a



CPAP machine. Doe informed Yoast that due to the early hour he could not provide Yioast wit
the machindut that he would submit Yoast’s request to the proper authorities.

Two days later, Yoast had a consultation with Defendant Anthony Hoch, a certified
medical assistant employed by Defendant PrimeCare Medical Inc. Yoast widhé he
suffered from slegg apnea and requested a CPAP machine. Hoch asked Yoast if a family member
or friend could bring the machine “if necessary,” and Yoast said yes. Hoclottiéfoast that
he would check if the facility had an available CPAP machine.

On March 6, not havingeceved a CPAP machine, Yoast spoke with Defendant
VanDorick, a correctional officer, and requested a CPAP machine. VanDduskdehim.
Three days later, Yoast asked Defendant Stein, another correctional offieeCR&P machine
but Stein refused, @kaining to Yoast that everyone has sleep apnea in jail. On March 11, nine
days after he was incarcerated, Yoast posted balil.

F. The Prosecution

On September 1, 2017, anfdrmationchaiging Yoastwith multiple counts of
harassment and stalkingl of which weremisdemeanors @ummary offensg related to
Yoast’s allegedctions towards Hussain, was filed by either Assistant District Attorney ldughe
or Ringwood and approved by Defendant ktgomeryCountyDistrict Attorney Pobert Steele.
After a bench trial, Yoast was convictedtwb summary offenses barassmert-onestemming

from thewashingmachine incident anthe other from the car kicking incident.

5 Neither Hughe nor Ringwood aresued in the Amendedatplaint
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Il. LEGAL STANDARD

To survive a motion to dismiss, a plaintiff mustgdl “factual content that allows the
court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for thedunistcalleged®
and “enough facts to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveatevid the
necessary element” ofcdaim.” Specifically, “[flactual allegations must be enough to raise a
right to relief above the speculative level on.the assumption that all the allegations in the
complaint are true (even if doubtful in fact) . .8 The question is not whethdret plaintiff
ultimately will prevail but whether the complaint is “sufficient to cross the féderat’s
threshold.®

Where the plaintiff igpro se the allegations must be liberally construed and evaluated
under a less stringent standard than a pleading prepared by an aténneyaluating a
challenged complaint, a court must “accept all factual allegations as tnsésusothe complaint
in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and determine whether, under any rekseading
of the complaintthe plaintiff may be entitled to reliet* Although the Court must draw all

reasonable inferences from the allegationgvor of the plaintiffl? it “need not accept as true

6 Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citiRell Atl. Corp. v. Twomby550 U.S. 544, 556 (2007pee also
Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusan®63 U.S. 27, 46 (2011).

" Phillips v. Cty. of Alleghenyp15 F.3d 224, 234 (3d Cir. 2008) (citiiglombly 550 U.S. at 556).

8 Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (citations omitted).

9 Skinner v. Switzeb62 U.S. 521, 530 (A1) (ctation omitted). At the motion to dismiss stage, a court determines
only whether a plaintiff will be permitted to seek evidence in suppdheoflaims in the complairbeeTwombly

550 U.S. at 556, 5589.

10 Erickson v. Pardus551 U.S. 89, 942007).

11 phillips, 515 F.3d at 233 (quotirfinker v. Roche Holdings Ltd292 F.3d 361, 374 n.7 (3d Cir. 2002)) (quotation
marks omitted).

2Revell v. Port Auth. of N.Y. & N,h98 F.3d 128, 134 (3d Cir. 2010) (citation omitted).
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‘unsupported conclusions and unwarranted inferencési”the plaintiff's “batl assertions” or
“legal conclusions.**
1. DISCUSSION

A. § 1983 Claims Against the Pottstown Defendant§,Legal Aid, Cheetham,
Wisler Pearlstine, and O’Donoghue

1. Counts | & Il (Text messages incidents)

Counts | and Il assert that Hussain shared text messade®ffitters Fischer and
Schmalbach, and that these text messages were the basis of the harassment cheages that
officer filed against Yoast. Yoast alleges that, as applied to him, the charges Vidaecst
Amendment right to free speech and freedom of expression.

“[A]s a general matter the First Amendment prohibits government officials from
subjecting an individual to retaliatory actions, including criminal prosecutiongydéaksg
out.”*®“To state a First Amendment retaliation claim, a plaintiff must allege two things: (1) that
the activity in question is protected by the First Amendment, and (2) that the gul@tetotity
was a substantial factor in the alleged retaliatory acfibRIaintiff must also show the absence
of probable cause for ttarest!®

However, because “[t]he right to free speech . . . ‘is not absdfififaws or policies that

13 Doug Grant, Inc. v. Grate BayCasino Corp.232 F.3d 173, 1884 (3d Cir. 2000) (quotin@ity of Pittsburgh v.
W. Penn Power Cp147 F.3d 256, 263 n.13 (3d Cir. 1998)).

1n re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litigl14 F.3d 1410, 14280 (3d Cir. 1997) (quotin@Glassman v.
Conputervison Corp, 90 F.3d 617, 628 (1st Cir. 1996)) (quotation marks omitted).

15 As an initial matter, Plaintiff concedes that the official capacity clairagagtie Pottstown Defendants, besides
Chief Drumheller, should be dismiss&keDoc. No. 98 at 52. Bmuse tlaims against government officials in their
official capacities are analyzed as municipal liability claims against timécipality that employs therhthe official
capacity claims against Drumheller will also be dismissed as duplicatikie ofldms against Pottstown Borough.
Fitzgerald v. Martin No. 163377, 2017 WL 3310676, at *6 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 3, 2017) (citation omitted).

6 Hartman v. Moore547U.S. 250, 252006)(citation omitted).

7 Hill v. Borough of Kutztowm55 F.3d 225, 241 (3d CR006) (citation omitted).

8 Nieves v. Bartleft139 S. Ct. 1715, 1725 (2019).

19 United States v. Wagg936 F.3d 1014, 1017 (9th Cir. 2019) (quotikshcroftv. ACLU, 535 U.S. 564, 573
(2002).



target conduct, but that burden speech only incidentally, may be v&litiérefore, “speech
integral to criminal conduct” is not protected by the FAmstendment! Accordingly, the First
Amendment does not provide protection when a statute includes the “requiremepecifia s
intent to harass?® Pennsylvania’s harassment statute applies when a person has “intent to
harass, annoy or alarm another” peréo¥ioast was charged by Fischer with “engagling] in a
course of conduct or repeatedly commit[ing] acts which serve no legitimatese.if* and by
Schmalbach with “communicat[ing] repeatedly,” both with the “intent to haraesyaor alarm”
Hussain?® Therefore, because Yoast was charged not for protected speech “but rather for
[repeatedly sending text messages] with fhexHic intent to harass,” his conduct was not
protected by the First Amendment as a matter offaw.

2. Counts llI-VIII, XI -XIV (Text message incidents & mail theft
incident)

Yoast asserts claims for malicious prosecution under the Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendmentg’ against numerous defendants. He alleges that Officers Fischer and Schmalbach

each acted maliously when they filed harassment charges againsthwoast further alleges

201d. (citing Virginia v. Hicks 539 U.S. 113, 1224 (2003).

2l United States v. Alvares67 U.S. 709, 712012)(citing Giboney v. Empire Storage & Ice G836 U.S490
(1949); see alsdJnited States v. Gonzale305 F.3d 165, 191 (3d Cir. 201&)ting United States v. Steverb9
U.S. 460, 4682010).

22\Waggy, 936 F.3d at 1020 (citinhorne v. Bailey846 F.2d 241, 244 (4th Cir. 198&ormley v. Dir., Conn. State
Dept of Prob, 632 F.2d 938, 9442 (2dCir. 1980) United States v. Lample§73 F.2d 783, 787 (3d Cir. 1978)
2318 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 20

241d. at (a)(3).

25|d. at (a)(7).

26\Waggy 936 F.3d at 1019.

2" Throughout his Complaint, Yoast asserts claims separately undecificsponstitutobnal provision and under the
Fourteenth Amendment. Howeveif, & constitutional claim is covered by pesific constitutional provision, such
as the Fourth or Eighth Amendment, the claim must be analyzed undearttiardtappropriate to that specific
provision, not under the rubric of substantive due protéssited States v. Lanieb20 U.S. 259, 272 n(1997);
see also Betts v. New Castle Youth Dev, 681 F.3d 249, 260 (3d Cir. 2010). Therefore, those Fourteenth
Amendment claims will be dismissddere, because the Fourth Amendment is the proper constitutionaipnoto
analyze a § 1983 claim fonalicious prosecution, the Fourteenth Amendment claims will be disthBeeBlack v.
Montgomery Cty 835 F.3d 358, 365 (3d Cir. 2018y amendedSept. 16, 201p

28 Yoast further asserts that Hussain acted under color of state law to nsiffigiasecute him.
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that Officers Portock and Ponto, as well as Hussain, Legal Aid, Cheethaler, ®éarlstine, and
O’Donoghue maliciously prosecuted hfor harassmentbased orthe allegation that Yoast stole
Hussain’s maif® Yoast also asserts that each defendant engaged in a conspiracy to maliciously
prosecute him.

As an initial matter, “a plaintiff seeking to hold an individual liable under § 1983 must
establisithat she was deprived of a federal constitutional or statutory right by a staté aad
Hussain, Legal Aid, Cheetham, Wisler Pearlstine, and O’Donogfeugot state actor8.Yoast
argues that private parties who act in concert with state officialsecaaonsidered state actdfs.
Providing false information to the policesven deliberateh-does not transform a private party
into a state actot? “However, providing false information to the police, coupled with a
conspiracy to violate constitutional rightcan transform a private actor into a state actor.”

To “properly plead an unconstitutional conspiracy, a plaintiff must assert facts f
which a consjpatorial agreement can be inferrett. The Court does “not consider any

conclusory allegations [such as] that there was ‘a corrupt conspiracygreenaent,” or ‘an

29 egal Aid and Wisler Pearlstine are only sued in their capacity as the engpbdy@neetham and O’'Donoghue,
respectively.

30Kach v. Hosg589 F.3d 626, 646 (3d Cir. 2009) (citiBgnn v. Universal Health Sy871 F.3d 165, 1690 (3d
Cir. 2004).

31 See id.

32 See, e.gBoyer v. Mohring994 F. Supp. 2d 649, 658 (E.D. Pa. 2Qt#)ng Moore v. Marketplace Rest., Inc.
754 F.2d 13361352-53 (7th Cir.1985); see alsaCooper v. MuldoonNo. 054780, 2006 WL 1117870, at *2 (E.D.
Pa. Apr. 26, 206) (citing Moore, 754 F.2dat 1352-53; Benavidez v. Gunnelf22 F.2d 615, 618 (10th Cit983;
Butler v. Goldblatt Bros., Inc589 F.2d 323327 (7th Cir.1979; Caswell v. Bk Wholesale Cp5 F.Supp.2d 312,
318-19 (E.D.Pa.1998; Dirocco v. Andeson 655 F.Supp. 594, 598E.D. Pa.1986); Gardner v. Bisceglin956
F.2d 1164 (6th Cir. 1992)

33 Simmer v. KehlemMo. 152285, 2015 WL 673701, at *3-4 (D.N.J. Nov. 2, 2015fciting Bailey v. Harleysville
Nat | Bank & Trust 188 F. Appx 66, 68 (3d Cir. 2004)

34 Great W. Mining & Mineral Co. v. Fox Rothschild LL®15 F.3d 159, 178 (3d Cir. 2010) (citibgR. v. Middle
Bucks Area Vocational Tech. Sc@72 F.2d 1364, 1377 (3d Cir992).
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understanding in place between the Defendaiit¥dast’s conclusory allegations that the

defendants were “acting in concert”“@acted in collusion” cannot support his claifn.

Moreover, “[t]o prevail on a malicious prosecution claim under section 1983, a plaintiff
must show that: (1) the defendants initiated a criminal proceeding; (2) tiaairproceeding
ended in the plaintiff's favor; (3) the proceeding was initiated without probable;q@)she
defendants acted maliciously or for a purpose other than bringing the plaintistice; and (5)
the plaintiff suffered deprivation of liberty consistent with the concept atises a
consequence of a legal proceedid.”

Yoast asserts that Officers Fischer and Schmalbach acted maliciousingy fili
harassment charges for the purpose of stopping him from further communicigtimg.asain
and not for the purpose of “bringindgihtiff to justice.”®® Yoast further asserts that Officers
Portock and Ponto “institute[d] the summary harassment charge based on anisrasap, and
personal vendetta against Plaintiff, reasons extraneous to the proper seekingedfgndtthat
Porbck, Ponto, Hussain, Cheetham, and O’Donoghue maliciously prosecuted him “with evil
motive that was intended to outcome a furtherance of criminal proceedings &jims,
seeking compulsion that would force him to exonerate Defendant Hussain freeméiader of
her lease term3®

Yoast must be able to show that the officers who filed the charges acted for a purpose

other than bringing him to justice. But Yoast offers only “unsupported conclusib¥sast

allegesthat Officers Fischer and Schmalbdwbught charges against him to stop him from

35d.

%6 Doc. No. 50 at 39.

3" McKenna v. City of Philadelphj®82 F.3d 447, 461 (3d Cir. 200@)iting Smith v. Marasco318 F3d 497, 521
(3d Cir.2003).

38Doc. No. 50 at 17, 19, 20, 22

391d. at 39, 4344,

40 Doug Grant 232 F.3cat 183-84 (quotingCity of Pittsburgh 147 F.3cat263 n.13.
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communicating with Hussain, and that Portock, Ponto, Hussain, Cheetham, and O’Donoghue
maliciously prosecuted him to compel him to release Hussain from her lease, bupivales
no factual allegations to back up these conclustbns.

Moreover, Yoast did not suffer a deprivation of liberty because merely bsunegis
summons does not constitute a seiZdnéoast asserts that these charges were later used “as an
artificial foundation of underpinning to conflateeir stalking/harassment charges and allege a
course of conduct?® Nevertheless, all of these claims resultethe issuance ai summonshe
was not taken into custodyherefore, Yoast's malicious prosecution claims will be dismissed.
Furthermore, in adtion to Yoast failing to allege sufiient facts showing the existence of a
conspiracy, because Yoast’s “substantive 8 1983 claims fail . . . [his] § 1983 conslairasy c
fail as well.”*

3. Counts IX & X (Text messages incidents)

Counts IX and X assert th@ificer Schmalbach’s AffidavitfoProbable Cause was
fabricated because he misquoted the text message communications betweé&naRthinti
Hussain regarding the temperature of the water heater in the dwellirf§ unit.

A “criminal defendant may have a staalbne fabricated evidence claimgaanst state
actors under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment if there inablteaso

likelihood that, absent that fabricated evidence, the defendant would not have beeallgrimi

41 SeeBoseman v. Upper Brvidence Twp.680 F. App’x 65, 69 (3d Cir. 2017).

42 DiBella v. Borough of Beachwopd07 F.3d 599, 603 (3d Cir. 2005).

43 Doc. No. 50 at 39, 44ee also idat 17, 19, 21, 22.

44 Milbourne v. BakerNo. 1£1866, 2012 WL 1889148, at *14 (E.D. Pa. May 23,2((citingDennison v. Pa.
Dept of Corr, 268 F.Supp.2d 387, 402 (M.Ba.2003); see alsdlein v. Madison374 F. Supp. 3d 389, 421
(E.D. Pa. 2019jciting Glass v. City of Phila.455 F.Supp.2d 302, 35960 (E.D. Pa. 2006 Rink v. Ne. Educ.
Intermediate Unit 19 717 F. Appx 126, 141 (3d Cir. 2017)There can be no civil conspiracy to commit an
unlawful act under § 1983 where the plaintiff has not proven a deprivatiooooistitutional or federal statutory
right or privilege.”).

45 Because a fabrication of evidence claim is properly asserted thedEourteenth Amendment, Yoast's Fourth
Amendment claim will be dismisseSeeHalsey v. Pfeiffer750 F.3d 273, 294 (3d Cir. 2014).
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charged.*® “In addition, there is a notable bar for evidence to be considered ‘fabricéted.
“There must be ‘persuasive evidence supporting a conclusion that the proponents of the
evidence’ are aware that evidence is incorrect or that the evidence is offeredarntjaahti
“testimony that is incorrect or simptisputed should not be treated as fabricated merely because
it turns out to have been wrontf”

Officer Schmalbach stated in the Affidavit of Probable Cause that:

On arrival | spoke with Aphrodite Hussain. The textse being received from

her land lord Terrence Yoast, here in. The texts had started with a request from

the temperature on the hot water heater to be turned up. The Defendant did not

limit his communications to the topic of the heater howevelfjabégan to call

her a horrible mother whaoésn't care if she scalds her child with water that is

too hot, and other insulting statemefits.
Yoast asserts that his actual text message stated: “You don’t want to scatth8wvrta hot
water anyway, you could burn her skin, I think you are being very improvident as a,midthe
degrees is probably the safest setting on a hot water héater.”

Even assuming that this difference could constitute a “fabrication,” thew a
reasonable likelihood that Yoast wouldt have been charged had the text been transcribed
verbatim in the criminal complaint. Officer Schmalbach stated that he looked sp afuh
determined thaDfficer Fischethad alreadyssuedYoast a diationbased on his communication
with Hussain. Officer Schmiahch also stated that there were numerous text messages besides

the specific one that Yoast takes issue with. Yoast was charged with the provisien of

harassment statute criminalizing repeated communicati@escause Schmalbach filed the

46 Black 835 F.3d at 371.

47d.

481d. (citing Halsey 750 F.3d at@5).
49 Exhibit B to Doc. No. 50.

50 Doc. No. 50 atl5.

51 Exhibit B to Doc. No. 52.
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charge based on the repeated nature of thermmicatior—not Yoast’s specific word choicel—
is likely that Yoast would still have been charged had this particular texthesatd
“improvident” instead of “horrible.” Moreover, Yoast has failed to allege thatrfatbah acted
in bad faith other thaby stating it as a conclusion.
4. Counts XIX & XX (Washing machine incident)
Yoast alleges that, on February 26, 2017, after Hussain called the police andliréydrte
she was being harassed by him, Officer Martin violdtedRourth Amendment by stoppihgn
as he walked from the parking lot to the basement of the rented home and searchfng him.
However, “under the exception to the warrant requirement establisfiedrinv. Ohig>® ‘an
officer may, consistent with the Fourth Amendment, conduct a brief, investigatory lstoypthe
officer has a reasonable, articulable suspicion that criminal activity is"af6d@aking the
factual allegations as true, based on Hussain’s call, Officer Martin Asona&ble suspicion to
believethat Yoast wabarassing Hussait? Therefore, as a matter of law, Officer Martin did not
violate the Fourth Amendment by conductingeary stop.
5. Counts XXI & XXII (Washing machine incident)
Yoast alleges that O’Neill, Martin, and Ponto violated the Fourth Amendment by
unlawfully entering the basement of the propéPtyThe doctrine of qualified immunity protects
government officials ‘from liability for civil damages insofar as their cohdoes not violate

clearly established statutory asrestitutional rghts of which a reasonable person would have

52 Yoast concedes that the Fourteenth Amendment claim should be dismissed.

53392 U.S. 1(1968)

54 United States v. Browd48 F.3d 239, 244 (3d Cir. 2006juptinglllinois v. Wardlow; 528 U.S. 11$2000).

55 Cf. Navarette v. California572 U.S. 393, 40(2014)(ruling that an anonymous caller’s 911 call describing the
car that ran her off the road was reliable because the caller claimed eyewitiressyest the alleged daerous
driving, independent evidence suggested that she was telling the trutieramee of the 911 system meant that she
could be identified)see alsdJnited States v. JacksonO0 F. Appx 411, 415 (6th Cir2017).

6 Because this claim is properly aggdunder the Fourth Amendment, Yoast's Fourteenth Amendment claim will
be dismissed.
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known.”®” “Qualified immunity gives government officials breathing room to maksoreable
but mistaken judgments,” and “protects ‘all but the plainly incompetent or those whanghow
violate he law.”*® “The protection of qualified immunity applies regardless of whether the
government official’s error is a mistake of law, a mistake of fact, or akeisiased on mixed
questions of law and fact®

The Supreme Court has “held that when offiegtempt to makea warrantless arrest in a
public place but the suspect flees into a dwelling the officers do not need atwaparsue the
suspect and carry out the arre$tl’ikewise, inStanton v. Simshe Supreme Court reversed a
Ninth Circuit decigon denying qualied immunity to a police officer who entered a private
property without a warrant to detain a suspect for a misdem&snbe Supreme Court
explained “that federal and state courts nationwide are sharply divided on themqudsther
anofficer with probable cause to arrest a suspect for a misdemeanor may enter a home without a
warrant while in hot pursuit of that suspe®t.Therefore, the Court held that the police officer
“may have been mistaken in believing his actions were justifigidhe was not ‘plainly
incompetent.’®3

Here, the police were responding to Hussain’s call that she was being hara¥sedtby
They were aware of prior harassment charges filed against Yoast based onlh¢s ttwards

Hussain. The police attempted to detain Yoast, but he fled into thei&wen assuming that

5" Pearson v. Callaharb55 U.S. 223, 23(2009)(quotingHarlow v. Fitzgerald 457 U.S. 800, 8161982).

58 Ashcroft v. alKidd, 563 U.S. 731, 743 (2011) (quotiMglley v. Briggs 475 U.S. 335, 34(1986))

59 Pearson 555 U.Sat 231 (internal quotation omitted).

60 Bodine v. Warwick72 F.3d 393, 399 (3d Cir. 1996)ting United States v. Santajd27 U.S. 3§1976).
61571 U.S. 3, 4 (2013).

621d. at 6 (citations omitd).

631d. at 10 (quotingVialley, 475 U.S. at 341

64 SeeUnited States v. Naved694 F.3d 463, 478 (3d Cir. 2012) (Hardiman, J., dissenting) (quséintana 427
U.S.at 4243 (*“The fact that [a] pursti . .end[s] almost as soon as it beg[insdcaise a suspect flees into and is
apprehended just inside his own home doesreater it any the less a ‘hot pursuit’ sufficient to justify the
warrantless entryy) (alterations in original)
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Hussain’s consent to enter the home did not provide consent for the police to enter the
basement? based orStanton the officers are entitled to qualified immunity.
6. Count XXIIl (Washing machine incident)

Yoastalso alleges that O’Neill, Martin, and Ponto violated his First Amendment rights
because their arrest was retaliation for him calling Hussain a “bitch” andva™blowever,
under the favorable termination rule, “a plaintiff cannot attack the validitysafdnviction or
sentence in a 8 1983 damages action without proving that the conviction or sentence has been
‘reversed on direct appeal, expunged by executive order, declared invalid by alstas t
authorized to make such determination, or called into question by a federal csugisis of a
writ of habeas corpus, 28 U.S.C. § 225%."The purpose of the favorable termination
requirement is to avoid ‘the possibility of the claimant [sic] succeeding itothaction after
having been convicted in the underlying criminal prosecution, in contraventionrohg st
judicial policy against the creation of two conflicting resolutions arising outeadime or

identical transaction.®”

85“The Fourth Amendment recognizes a valid warrantless enthgearch of premises when police obtain the
voluntary consent of an occupant who shares, or is reasonably beliehagletoagithority over the area in common
with aco-occupant who later objects to the use of evidence so obtafBedrgjia v. Randolphb47 U.S. 103, 106
(2006)(citing lllinois v. Rodriguez497 U.S. 1771990; United States v. Matlo¢k15 U.S. 1641974). The
Supreme Court limited this rule whemete is “a second occupant physically presaitito “refuges] permission to
search.’ld. at 109. However, only someone with “common authority” over the prersesegrovide consent or
object to consent given by another occuphtWhen determining who lsd'‘common authority” police officers are
entitled to rely on “common understandintd’ at110-11. Significantly, a landlordcalls up no customary
understanding of authority to admit guests without the consent of tentoccupant.ld. at 112. The plice were
aware that Hussain was the tenant living in the home, and they obtaissairisconsent to enter the home. They
were also aware that Yoast was the landlord and there is no indicatidmeth&hew that the home had areas that
Yoast retained dhority over.Cf. United States v. Corre®53 F.3d 187, 191 (3d Cir. 2011) (holding thatesident
lacks an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in the common areas ltfanmapartment building with a
locked exterior doof). To the contrary, O’'Neill explained that his understanding was thatt Yiadsno authority
over the proprty and that he hadd provide[Hussain]with notice’ before he entered the property. Doc. No. 50 at
64.

66 Deemer v. Beardb57 F. Appx 162, 16465 (3d Cir.2014)(quotingHeck v. Humphreys512 U.S. 477, 4887
(1994)).Heckapplies to convictionr summary ffensesSeeOlick v. Pennsylvaniar39 F. Appx 722, 725 (3d
Cir. 2018)

67 Kossler v. Crisanti564 F.3d 181, 188 (3d Cir. 2009) (quotidgck 512 U.S. at 484).
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Yoast was convicted of the harassment charge stenfroimgthis arres®® and this
conviction has not been reversed or called into queStitjB]oth the conviction and First
Amendment retaliation claim are based in part on the alleged” statements Yoast made to
Hussain’® Therefore, because Yoast's “underlyjingrassment] crge and his § 1983 First
Amendment claim require answering the same questamether [Yoast’'s] behavior constituted
protected activity or [harassmentHeckbars this clainf?

Moreover, in Officer O’'Neill's Affidavit of Probable Cause, $tated that the arrest was
because Hussain and an eyewitness informed him about Yoast’'s patterrssinesutaand
stalking/? Yoast's refusal to provide notice to Hussain before entering the premises, and the
police records showing three previous times that Yoast hadcitedrfor harassing Hussafp.
Therefore, because there was probable cause to arrest’Ygaast’s retaliatory arrest claim

fails.”®

58 When there are multiple criminal charges arising from the same act, an aafuitialcharge does neonstitute
a favorable terminatiorSeeKossler 564 F.3d at 188. Therefore, despite Yoasttuittal on the stalking charge,
because he was found guilty of harassmentiakbar applies.

% Doc. No. 95.

70 Ashton v. City of Uniontowd59 F. Appx 185, 189 (3d Cir. 2012)

"1 Gilles v. Davig 427 F.3d 197, 209 (3d Cir. 2005ke alsdAshton 459F. Appx at189 Schreane v. Marr722 F.
App’x 160, 166 (3d Cir. 2018).

72 SeeDempsey v. Bucknell Unj\834 F.3d 457, 4778 (3d Cir. 2016) (quotingVilson v.Russ¢ 212 F.3d 781, 790
(3d Cir. 2000)) (explaining that statements from a victim typicalfffcguto establish probable cause in the absence
of contrary evidencekee alsdSharrar v. Felsing128 F.3d 810, 818 (3d Cir. 1997)

73 Exhibit H to Doc. No. 52. Moreover, because there was probable cause, featus as well, Yoast has failed to
showthat the arrest was retaliatoSeeNieves 139 S. Ct. at 1725.

74 “[T]the Court can appropriately find probable cause as a mattanoffltaking all of [the plaintiff's] allegations
as true and resolving all inferences in her favor, a reasonable jury couiddhatidck of probable cause for [the
plaintiff's arrest].”” Gerhart v. Energy Transfer Partners, L.Rlo. 1701726, 2018 W16589586, at *13 (M.D. Pa.
Dec. 14, 2018) (quotinjlontgomery v. De Simon&59 F.3d 120, 124 (3d Cir. 19983ee alsdpiker v. Whittaker
553 F. Appx 275, 278 (3d Cir. 2014yjuotingUnited States v. Myer808 F.3d 251, 255 (3d C2002).

(“Probabk cause exists whenever reasonably trustworthy information or circwestaithin a police officer’s
knowledge are sufficient to warrant a person of reasonable caution to comaltida bffense has been committed
by the person being arrested.”).

S Nieves, 139 S. Ct. at 1725. Additionally, beyond Yoast's conclusory allegations,isheo¢hing to suggest that
the arrest was actually retaliation for him calling Hussain a “bitch” and a “bum.”
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7. Counts XXIV -XXXI, XXXIII -XXXVI (Washing machine incident)

Yoast further alleges that O’Neill, Martin, aR@nto violated the Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendmentdy arresting him without probable cause. Yoast also alleges that Martin and Ponto
failed to intervene when O’Neal falsely arrested him. Yoast further alldgens against
O’Neill for malicious prosecin, fabrication of evidence, and false imprisonment arising from
both the harassment and the stalking chafges.

However, Yoast cannot challenge whether there was probable cause to arresthse bec
such a challenge would “necessarily imply the invaliditythe harassment convictidi For the
same reason, Yoast’s claims of failure to intervene cannot proceed eithesebaaalaims
necessarily require Yoast to prove that Officer O’Neill lacked probabised® arrest hint
Similarly, Yoast's fabricatin ofevidence claim against O’Neill must also be dismissed because
“[t]o state a successful § 1983 claim for knowingly falsified evidence, a ifilanitst show a
reasonable likelihood that, absent that fabricated evidence, [he] would not have beeailgrimin
charged,” which “would necessarily imply that [his] conviction was invalfd.ikewise,

“[c]laims for malicious prosecution or false imprisonment arising from thsgmution, arrest,

and imprisonment that led to a plaintiff's conviction are cleamptesof Heckbarred claims,

76 Because these claims are properly asserted under the Foustiddmant, Yoast's Fourteenth Amendment claims
will be dismissed.

"7 Ortiz v. New Jersey State Poljcgt7 F. App’x 73, 773d Cir. 2018) (citindHeck 512 U.S. at 4887); see also
Olick v. PennsylvaniaZ39 F. Appx 722, 726 (3d Cir. 2018gxplaining that to prevail on a false arrest claim for
harassment, a plaintiff must respettte’ validity of his extant harassment caidin” and show that the conviction
was based on evidence unrelated to the lack of probable cause). Moreover, theobalzle pause to arrest Yoast
based on Hussain’s report of ongoing harassment by Yoast, which was cdedlgran eyewitnesSeeSpker,

553 F. Appx at278(quotingMyers 308 F.3dat 255 (“Probable cause exists whenever reasonably trustworthy
information or circumstances within a police officer's knowledge are suffitdemarrant a person of reasonable
caution to conclude that arffense has been committed by the person being arrested.”). Therefores feagton as
well, Yoast has failed taate a claim upon which relief can be granted.

8 SeeNifas v. Colemans28 F. App’x 132, 136 (3d Cir. 2013) (citiggnith v. Mensinge2% F.3d 641, 650 (3d
Cir. 2002) (explaining that a failure to intervene claim requires finding that therlymadg vidation occurred).

7 Ortiz, 747 F. App’x at 77 (citation omitted).
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because success on those claims requires showing unlawful prosecution or imgts8hm
Therefore, all of these claims will be dismissed.
8. Count XXXII (Washing machine incident)

Yoast asserts an Eighth Amendment excessivecladih against Defendant O’Neill
based on his request that bail be set at $20,000. According to Yoast, O'Neill's “essmjomg
affiances and omission of material facts in his Affidavit . . . was influembpa&rsuasive in the
establishment of unreasonable b&#.”

“[Iln Pennsylvania, the district justice[s], not the police officers, sét’BafAlthough it
is still possible to allege a valid Eighth Amendment excessive bail claim against aduabiv
that lacks authority to set bail, at a minimum the plaintiff must allege that the defendant
manipulated the bond decisioff Therefore, it is possible to state a claim for excessive bail
against a police officer who “manipulate[d],” “help[ed] to shape,” or “exercisefjfstant
influence over” the bondecison.?

However, “[t]o the extent that success on his excessive bond claim . . . would imply the

invalidity of his conviction HecK bars his clainf® Yoast's claim is based on his assertion that

80d. (citation omitted). Specifically, Yoast’s malicious prosecutiairok fail because “[t]o prevail on a malicious
prosecution claim under section 1983, a plaintiff must show thdhe .criminal proceeding ended in the plaintiff's
favor.” McKenna 582 F.3cat461 (citing Smith 318 F.3cat521). AlthoughHeckdoes notlways bar false
imprisonment claims, when success on the § 1983 claim woaltk$sarily invalidate a convictiérHeck applies.
Wells v. King 232 F. App’x 148, 149 (3d Cir. 2007). Becatamast'simprisonment was based on the same conduct
that he was awicted for,if hisimprisonment was not lawful thenviction was nogithervalid. SeeWebster v.
Wojtowicz No. 13117, 2017 WL 3718163, at *5 (D.N.J. Aug. 29, 20EEe alsalames v. City of WilkeBarre,

700 F.3d 675, 683 (3d Cir. 2012) (citigallace v. Katp549 U.S. 384, 38@007) (explaining that to state a claim
for false imprisonment a ghaiff must establish that “the detention was unlawful'herefore Heckbars this claim.
SeeCurry v. YacheraNo. 145253, 2015 WL 1186014, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 13, 2048)d as modified835 F.3d

373 (3d Cir. 2016§“ The plaintiff s false arrest anfdlse imprisonment claims address the validity of the conviction
itself-not the level of force used in his arrest or the conditions of his imprisorijnent

81 Doc. No. 50 at 91.

82 James v. York Cty. Police Depl60 F. Appx 126, 133 (3d Cir. 2005iting Pa. R.Crim. P. 120.

83 Quiero v. MunizNo. 1400225, 2015 WL 13738994, at *6 (M.D. Pa. Aug. 3, 2Qt&ing James 160 F. Appx
at133.

84 James 160F. Appx at 133

851d. at 133 n.5.
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O’Neill falsified the Affidavit of Probable Cause whicausedhe bail amount to be artificially
increased. Success on this claim would imply that O’Neill lacked probable caaisedt Yoast,
which would imply that Yoast’s conviction—which was based on the same alleged conduct—
was invalid. Therefore, this a¢fa will be dismissed.

9. Count XXXVII (Car kicking incident)

Yoast asserts a Fourteenth Amendment claim for actested danger against Officer
Casio. According to Yoast, on March 2, 2017, he told Casio that he needed to visit the property
and was worriedhat Hussain “would be problematic with his visitation, that she is provocative
and can be untruthful” and asked for police protection, but that Casio, despite knowing about the
four prior incidents with Hussain, “directed Plaintiff to visit his propafigent any attending
officer and affirmatively stated that Plaintiff would not be arrestédHowever, after Yoast
visited the property and took photos, Officer Portock placed him “under arrest for kicking
Defendant Hussain’s vehicle bumper and sghenty charged him for stalking and
harassment®

To establish a statereated danger claim, Yoast must plead four elements:

(1) the harm ultimately caused was foreseeable and fairly direct; (2) a state acto

acted with a degree of culpability that ske theconscience; (3) a relationship

between the state and the plaintiff existed such that the plaintiff was a foreseeabl

victim of the defendant’s acts, or a member of a discrete class of persons

subjected to the potential harm brought about by the'stadions, as opposed to

a member of the public in general; and (4) a state actor affirmatively used his

her authority in a way that created a danger to the citizen or that rendered the
citizen more vulnerable to danger than had the state not aci#d®a

8 Doc. No. 50 at 101.
871d. at 102.
88 Henry v. City of Erie728 F.3d 275, 282 (3d Cir. 201@)tations omitted).
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The first element ensures that “[s]tate actors are not liable every time timisaet into
motion a chain of events that result in hafiTo satisfy the “fairly direct” prong, the plaintiff
must plausibly allege that state officials’ actimasisedo happen or were the catalyst for the
harm asserte?f. “The plaintiff fails to satisfy this prong if the ‘[d]efendants’ actions were
separated from the ultimate harm by a lengthy period of time and intervenieg énd
actions.”™*“Thus, it is irsufficient to plead that state officials’ actions took place somewhere
along the causal chain that ultimately led to the plaintiff's haim.”

Yoast fails to sufficiently plead facts to establish that his arrest was thg damect”
result of Casio’s aabns. AsYoast explains, Officer Portock’s Affidavit of Probable Cause stated
that he was dispatched because the police “were getting reports from a néighborhite
male subject was on the property kicking a vehicle and curgi@fficer Cortis then informe
Portock that two witnesses had seen Yoast kicking Hussain’s car, screantegitds and
angrily rummaging through the garbage c¥hss a matter of law Hese witness reports
constitutean intervening force that separated Casio’s statement from Yoast’'s arexsford,
Yoad has failed to sufficiently plead the first element.

10. Counts XXXVIII -XLI (Car kicking incident)
Following the alleged false statements by the withesses and Hussain, [oest that

Officers Portock and Hart falsely arrested him because they lacked probalkeleYazast also

891d. at 283.

90 Quinn v. Badolatp709 F. Appx 126, 129 (3d Cir. 201 {juotingHenry, 728 F.3cat 285).
91 Quinn, 709 F. Appx 129(quotingHenry, 728 F.3dat 285).

92 Henry, 728 F.3cat 285.

93 Exhibit | to Doc. No. 50.

% See id.
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alleges claims of malicious prosecution against Portock and Gbftssaresult of the March 2
events, Yoast was charged with both stalking and harassment, and was convictessofdrara
Although Yoast was not convicted of thelkitag charge when there are multiple

criminal charges arising from the same act, an acquittahercharge does not constitute a
favorable terminatiof® Because stating a successful claim for false arrest or malicious
prosecution would require Yoast to show that the witnesses lied, such a claim would “would
necessarily imply that [his harassmentheistion was invalid.®” Therefore, these claims are
Heckbarred®

11.Counts XLII & XLIII (Car kicking incident)

Yoast asserts an Eighth Amendment excessiveclaaih, and a civil conspiracy to
impose excessive bail, against Officer Portock, Sergeant Roorporal O’Neill, Officer Pfister,
and Chief Drumheller. Yoast alleges that after discussions with Ponto, O’'NdilDmmheller,
Portock submitted a request for $1 million bail, which Pfister argued for, and thegghest
was based on “Portock’s megresenting affiances and omission of material facts in his
Affidavit.” °® Furthermore, Yoast avers that this request was “influential and persutasiiie”
Magisterial District Justice’s decision to set bail at the allegedlgssice amount of $99,006°

As explained above, it is possible to state a claim for excessive bail againsea pol

officer who “manipulate[d],” “help[ed] to shape,” or “exercise[d] significariluience over” the

% Because these claims are properly brought under the Fourth Amendmeuot,itfeeifth Amendment claims will
be dismissed. Regardless, as will be explained, there is no merit to tiese cl

9 SeeKossler 564 F.3d at 188.

97 Ortiz, 747 F. App’x at 77 (citson omitted). The conviction was based on the same conduct that theobaises
arrest and prosecution.

%8 Moreover, Yoast's conviction for harassment confirms that the amesfficers had probable cause to arrest.him
SeeNoviho v. Lancaster Cty. Pesylvania No. 153151, 2016 WL 8716672, at *4 (E.D. Pa. June 3, 2Qdf6}

sub nom. Noviho v. Lancaster Cty. of Pennsylvata F. App’x 160 (3d Cir. 2017).

% Doc. No. 50 at 121.

1001d, at 122.
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bond decisiort®* However, Yoast has failed to state such a claim becaus®ss on these
claims would imply that the witness statements about Yoast’s conduct at the ypvogrerfalse,
which would, in turn, necessarily imply that Yoast’s conviction for harassment wdislinva
Therefore Heckbars these claim$?

12.Counts XLIV -L I (Car kicking incident)

Yoast also alleges claims against Officer Pfister for failure to interveméailse
imprisonment, against Officers Portock, Hart, and Long for false imprisonarahfigainst
Portock and Ponto for malicious prosecution and coaspito commit malicious prosecutiofy
These claims will all be dismissed.

Yoast’s claims of false imprisonméfttand malicious prosecutidi? require him to
show that there was no probable cause. Failure to intéfifemal civil conspiracl’ require a
plaintiff to prove the underlying constitutional toFherefore Heckbars all of these claims
because success on the merits would imply the invalidity of the hamassanviction.

13.Counts LIl -LV (All incidents involving the police)

Yoast asserts claims for failute-train against Sergeant Ponto and Chief Drumheller
alleging that Ponto failed to adequately train Portock, andhiahheller failed to train all of

the police officers named in the Complatfft However, a failure to train claim is properly

101 James 160 F. Appx at 133

1021d, at 133 n.5.

103 The Fouteenth Amendment claims will be dismissed because these claims areypbopeght under the Fourth
Amendment.

04 yopast's false imgsonment claim is based on his assertion that he was arrested \pithbable caus&ee
James 700 F.3d at 683 (citingvalace, 549 U.Sat389).

105 McKenna 582 F.3dat 461 (citing Smith 318 F.3cat521).

106 Nifas, 528 F. App’x at 136 (citingmith 293F.3dat 650).

07Rink 717 F. Apjx at141

108 Because the Fourteenth Amendment is the proper basis for these tiaimsresponding Fourth and Eighth
Amendment claims will be dismissed.
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brought against a municipality® Although “a single act or decision of a final policymaker can
establish municipal policy*°the Third Circuit has held that “as a mattof Pennsylvania state
law, a township Police Chief is not a final policymakétand that “the Supreme Court has
forbidden courts fromassuming that municipal policymaking authority lies somewhere other
than where thapplicable law purports to put it**? Therefore, the failur¢o-train claims against
Sergeant Ponto and Chief Drumheller will be dismissed.

To the extent that Yoast’'s Amended Complaint can be construed as assemisg clai
based on supervisory liability, and to the extent that supervisdmiitly is a viable claim'**the
claims also fail. “A defendant in a civil rights action must have personal involtemtre
alleged wrongs; liability cannot be predicated solely on the operati@spdndeat superigrt4
“Personal involvement can be shown through allegations of personal direction or of actual
knowledge and acquiescence. Allegations of participation or actual knowledgegareseence,
however, must be made with appropriate particulafity.”

Moreover, “[iln order to state a § 1983 claim against a supervisor for failurenoara
complaint must allege that the supervisor’s failure to train his employees amoudaiterate

indifference to the rights of persons with whom the [untrained employees] icdo

109 City of Canton, Ohip489 U.S. 378, 388 (1989).

110 McGreal v. Ostov, 368 F.3d 657, 685 (7th Cir. 2004) (citatiomitted).

11 santiago v. Warminster Twi29 F.3d 121, 136.11(3d Cir. 2010)citations omitted). This principle has been
applied to Borough Police Chiefs as w&keeKocher v. Larksville Borougt926 F. Sipp. 2d 579, 606 (M.D. Pa.),
affd, 548 F. Ap’x 813 (3d Cir. 2013).

2 santiagg 629 F.3cat 135n.11 (quotingCity of St. Louis v. Praprotnjikt85 U.S. 112, 12n.1, 1261988).

113 seewilliams v. Papi 714 F. App’x 128, 133 (3d Cir. 2017).

4Rode v. Delirciprete 845 F.2d 1195, 1207 (3d Cir988)(citing Parratt v. Taylof 451 U.S. 527, 537 n.3
(1981)); Hampton v. Holmesburg Prison OfficiaB46 F.2d 1077, 1082 (3d Cir976).

115Rode 845 F.2cat 1207 see also Chavarriaga v. New Jersey Dy Corr., 806 F.3d 210, 222 (3d Cir. 2015)
Schéng v. Fountain 729 F. App’x 175, 178 n.13 (3d Cir. 2018) (explaining tligrhissal is warranted at the
pleading stage absent an adequate showing of personal involVement
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contact.”*8“A pattern of similar constitutional violations by untrained employees is ‘ordinarily
necessary’ to demonstrate deliberate indifference for purposes of failuant ™’

Yoast has only asserted conclusory allegations that Ponto and Drumheller hadigeowle
of, and acquiesced to, the specific actions of their subordiabigsue Yoast has not alleged
any pattern of constitutional violations. He also does not allege sufficasattfaestablish that
Ponto or Drumheller acted with Ideerate indifference or were persdly involved in the
alleged violations of his right$8 Therefore, Yoashas failed to state a claim upon which relief
can be granted.

14.Counts LVI-LVII, LXII -LXIII (All incidents involving the police)

Yoastappears tasseriMonell claims against Drumheller and against Pottstown Borough
based on both defendants’ failure “to adopt necessary internal operating poégasiing
making the probable cause determination, understanding when an application favamars
is necessary, anslhen the police should be involved in nerminal landlordtenant issue$t®

As explained above, Yoast has failed to state a claim for supervisoryyial@iinst
Drumheller because there are no allegations of personal involvement or delibéiféerence.

Therefore, the claims againstrhwill be dismissed.

118 Doneker v. Cty. of Buckslo. 131534,2014 WL 2586968, at *7 (E.D. Pa. June 10, 2014) (qudimgnick v.
Thompson563 U.S. 51, 61 (2011)).

117 Connick 563 U.S. at 62 (citation omitted).

118 additionally, supervisory liability is only applicable when the plaintiéfs stated a triable claim against the
subordinateSee Parkell v. Danber§33 F.3d 313, 330 (3d Cir. 2016Hgving determined that Parkell presents a
triable Fourth Amendment dfa, we next consider whether Parkell may pursue money damageth&ddtate
Defendants, who did not theselves conduct the visual badgvity searches but may have had supervisory
involvement”); Gordon v. Morton131 F. App’x 797, 799 (3d Cir. 2005) (citidgM. ex rel. J.M.K. v. v. Luzerne
County Juvenile Det. C{r372 F.3d 572, 586 (3d CR004) (“Additionally, because Gordon fails to demonstrate he
suffered a constitutional violation, he cannot satisfy any theonyparsisory liability”). Besides the Fourth
Amendment claim based on the entry into the basement, the Court hasinkdethat as a mdér of law,none of

the subordinate police officers violated Yoast's constitutional rightsefdre, supervisory liability is not available
based on those claims. Moreover, for the February 26 and March 2 incidieckbars this claim because it would
imply the invalidity of the convictions.

119Doc. No. 50 at 147, 160.
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With regard to Pottstown, an entity can be liable when a “policymaker hed faibct
affirmatively at all, [though] the need to take some action to control the agehtsgdvernment
is so obvious, and the inadequacy of existing practice so likely to result in the violation of
constitutional rights, that the policymaker can reasonably be said to have bberatkly
indifferent to the need*#° However, because as explained above, Drumheller was not the final
policymaker, Yoast has “failed to identify any policymaker or decisionmasponsible for the
unlawful conduct alleged'?! Nor hasYoast pleaded any facts indicating an existing practice
likely to violate constitutional right§? Therefore,Y oast has failed to state a claimompwhich
relief can be granted.

15.Counts LVIII & LIX ( Car kicking incident & washing machine
incident)

Yoast asserts claims for municipal liability against Pottstown Borough allegihg th
“Pottstown Borough, hasaustom and de facto practice of seizindiwduals for committing
misdemeanor offenses outside of the arresting officer’s presence,lthhauigvocation of
police powers by their officers, without prefatorily applying for an am@srant or having
probable cause prior to taking the accused person into custéy.”

“A plaintiff seeking to hold a municipality liable under section 1983 must demtmstra
that the violation of rights was caused by the municipality’s policy or custétfiiability is

imposed When the policy or custom itself violatdse Constitution or when the policy or

120 Natale v. Camden Cty. Corr. Faciljt$18 F.3d 575, 584 (3d Cir. 200@)tations omitted).

21Wood v. Williams568 F. App’x 100, 104 (3d Cir. 2014). Because claims for municipal tiahile properly
brought under the Fourteenth Amendment, all of Yoast's Fourth and EigrehdknentMonell claims will be
dismissed.

22 pdditionally, because the Court holds that, for all but one incidentdlieemfficers did not violate any of
Yoast's @nstitutional rights, there is no indication that there was an inadeguiating practice or that the need
control the police officers was obvious.

123Doc. No. 50 at 151.

124Thomas v. Cumberland Cty49 F.3d 217, 222 (3d Cir. 201&jting Monell v. Dept of Soc. Servs436 U.S.
658, ®1(1978).
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custom, while not unconstitutional itself, is the ‘moving force’ behind the constitutian aif
one of its employees*® A custom “is an act ‘that has not been formallyrappd by an
appropriate decisionmaker, bihat is ‘so widespread as to have the force of la?.”

Yoast has failed to sufficiently plead the existence of a municipal custom bdtaus
Amended Complaint does not demonstrate “a given course of cortdli¢bast onlyasserts
actions againgtim; the extent of an alleged custom is his assertion that “[u]pon information and
belief, Plaintiff avers that this warrantless approadvigsvidespread and longstanding that
Pottstown Borough, as a municipality, is cognizant of this procedural defecvierieeir
enforcement of the Criminal Code and willfully maintains this unscrupulous pradttoeut
correction.*?® However, because Yoast fails to set forth any factual allegations torsidista
the alleged custort?® the “allegations amount to mere conclysstatements and a recitation of
the elements required to bring fortvianell claim, and are thus insufficient®

Moreover, the basis for these claims are the arrests that Yoast asserts kislated
constitutional rights. However, because Yoast wasictew of a harassment charge stemming

from each arrestieckbars thes&onell claims13!

1251d. (quotingColburn v. Upper Darby Twp946 F.2d 1017,027 (3d Cir.1991).

126 Natalg 318 F.3cat584 (quotingdd. of the Cnty. Comims of Bryan Cnty. v. Browrb20 U.S. 397, 4041997)).
127 Estate of Rommn v. City of Newarkd14 F.3d 789, 798 (3d Cir. 2019) (quotBiglevicz v. Dubinon915 F.2d
845, 850(3d Cir. 1990).

128Doc. No. 50 at 151.

129 Estate of Romard14 F.3d at 798 (demonstrating custom through newspaper articles, at cetsee, and press
releases).

130 saleem v. Sch. Dist. of Philadelphio. 123193, 2013 WL 5763206, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Oct, 2@13) The Court
also notes that even if there were a custom, the custom does not violate gtiei@m SeeHuff, 2015 WL
4041963, at *8see alsdsraves v. Mahoning Cty821 F.3d 772, 778 (6th Cir. 201@uotingUnited States v.
Smith 73 F.3d 1414, 1416 (6th Cit996) (“The‘requirement that a misdemeanor must have occurred in the
officer's presence to justify a warrantless artest, have eglained,'is not mandated by the Fourth
Amendment’); Hartz v. Campbell680 F. Appx 703, 707 (10th Cir. 2017} Indeed, it is widely recognized that
the Fourth Amendment does not impose aprigsence requirement.”); Wayne R. LaFave, 3 Search & Sd&zure
5.1(c) (5th ed.J“[T] he presence test is not mandated by the Fourth Amentment

131 SeeMunchinski vSolomonNo. 064093, 2007 WL 3121331, at *2 (3d Cir. Oct. 26, 20@%&h v. Twp. of
Willingboro, No. 161900, 2012 WL 6623986, at *4 (D.N.J. Dec. 1812).
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16.Counts LX & LXI (All incident s involving the police)

Yoast also asserts claims for municipal liability against Pottstown Boiwaggd on a
failure to train. Yoast atiges that the Borough has been hiring police officers but failing to train
them “when it comes to following areas”:

a) Perfecting an arrest warrant prior to conducting an arrest when the accused

individual has been alleged to have committed a misdemeanor crime outside of

the arresting officer’s presence. b) Abstention from the entry into a building

structure when the owner unequivocally apprises the officer not to enter. c)

Proficiency in the United States Constitution, including its protection of rights.

Basic fundamentals of the Criminal Code and interpretation of its countegarts

Intelligible and proper enforogent of the Criminal Code after achieving its plain

language meaning and spiritual intent. f) Resolution of tenant complaints without

beconing manipulated or subservient to that complaining tenant, in a manner that
does presume compulsory invocation of @reninal Code because the

complaining tenant is unsatisfied and when there has been no actual crime

committed. g) Assessing and establighieasonable bail request amounts for

pretrial detainees, commensurate to factors such as, seriousness of tie allege

crime, criminal history of the accused, flight risk, danger to the communifyZetc.

When municipal liability is based on a failure tantéliability under section 1983
requires a showing that the failure amounts to ‘deliberate indifferend® taghts of persons
with whom those employees will come into contdé.”[D]eliberate indifference’ is a stringent
standard of fault, requiring proof that a municipal actor disregarded a known or obvious
consequence of his actiof*

However, even assumingathYoast’s rights were violated, he has failed to plead factual
allegations demonstrating that the Borough failed to train its officereimanner alleged by
Yoast. “[H]e does not identify any facts detailing specific deficiencies irtraiming

programs.?* Yoast “has also failed to allege any facts showing that a [Pottstown Biroug

132Doc. No. 50 at 15465.

133 Thomas 749 F.3cat 222 (quotingCarter v. City of Phila.181 F.3d 339, 357 (3d Cit999).
1341d. at 224 (quotingdrown, 520 U.Sat410).

135 Niblack v. Murray No. 126910, 2013 WL 4432081, at *9 (D.N.J. Aug. 14, 2013).
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policymaker knew or should have known that the [Borough’s] current training policiedwoul
lead to a violation of Yoast's right$® As the Third Circuit has explained, it is proper to dismiss
aMonellclaim when the “complaint [makes] conclusory and general claims of failuceders
train, or supervise employees to avoid constitutional violatiétfs.”
B. Section 1983 Claims Against Hussain, Singh, Hallinger, and Leon Smith

The Amended Complaint contains thirty one § 1983 counts against Hi&aaid ten
each against Singh? Hallinger, and Leon SmitH° These § 1983 counts are all claims brought
against various Pottstown police officers, which also name Hussain, Singh, étaliind/or
Leon Smith asserting that they are subject to liability under § 1983 becausetdteinaoncert
with state actors. tssain and iigh waived servicé* and both Hallinger and Leon Smith were
properly served*? None of these defendants have answered the Amended Complaint or filed
motions to dismiss.

“Generally, a district court may sua sponte dismiss a complaint undel Rblg6) afer
service of process only if the plaintiff is afforded an opportunity to respta&ach of the
§ 1983 claims against the Pottstown Defendestsextensivéy briefedand, as explained above,

the Court has determined that Yoast has failestate any 8983 claims upon which relief can

136 Fitzgerald 2017 WL 3310676, at *19.

"Wood 568 F. App’x at 104.

B8 Counts VI, XI-XIV, XX -XV, XXX -XXXI, XXXIII -XXXVI, XXXVl -XLI, XLVI -LI.

139 Counts XXII-XXV, XXX -XXXI, XXX -XVI.

10 Counts XXXVIII-XLI, XLVI -XI are alleged against both Hallinger angoln Smith.

141Doc. No. 39.

142Doc. No. 38.

143 Bethea v. Nation of Islan248 F. Appx 331, 333 (3d Cir2007)(citing Oatess v. SobolevitcB14 F.2d 428, 430
n.5 (3d Cir.1990); Germany v. Power 105.1 Ragdido. 183121, 2019 WL 5578847, at *1 n.1 (3d Glirct. 29,
2019) (citingGrayson v. Mayview State Hosg93 F.3d 103, 111 n.15 (3d Cir. 2002)).
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be granted. Therefore, because Yoast had an opportunity to respond, the Court dismesses thos
§ 1983 claims as alleged against Hussain, Singh, Hallinger, and/or Leon'8mith.
C. Claims Against District Attorney Steele

Yoast aserts four counts against District Attorney Steele, in both his individual and
official capacity, alleging malicious prosecution based on a failure to aéégtrain and
supervise, and a failure to adopt a pofity/According to Yoast, the astant district attorney
who filed the Information against him acted maliciously in doing so, and Steele tiail
adequately train his subordinates, or adopt a policy, not to prosecute people maliciously.

However, the Supreme Court has held that prosesetgoy abslute immunity from
actions for malicious prosecutidff The Supreme Court has further held that this absolute
immunity generally extends to claims based on the failure to train subordiosgeors, the
failure to properly supervise subordia prosecutrs, and the failure to adopt proper policiés.

Absolute immunity only does not apply when the challenged conduct is based on purely

144The Court also notes that, as with the §1983 claims adatgal Aid, Cheetham, Wisler Pearlstiréd
O’Donoghue Yoast has failed to allege anything mdrart conclusory statements alleging tHassain, Sing,
Hallinger, andor Leon Smithwere engaged in an unconstitutional conspiracy with the police to vidgdate h
constitutional rightsSeeGreat W. Mining 615 F.3dat178 (citingD.R., 972 F.2dat 1377).The extent of Yoast's
allegations are boilerplate sentences pasted into the various §1983 evalfegds such as “Plaintiff avers that
Defendant Fischer, Defendant Schmalbach and the alleged victim, Ddfehdaain, assembled and jointly
conspired taleprive Plaintiff of his Fourth Amendment right tofbee from prosecutorial malice"Defendant,
Aphrodite Hussain and Defendant, Manjeet Singh, inter alios, wel@sectorparties who acted in concert with
Defendants’, Corporal O’neill, Sergeant Ponto and Officer Martineutigk color of state law. . ”; and “Plaintiff
avers that Defendants’, Sergeant Ponto, Officer Portock, Aphrod#salit) Catherine Hallinger and Leon Smith,
assembled to jointly conspire and deprive Plaintiff of his Fouttte@mendment procedural due process right to be
freefrom prosecutorial malice See generallfpoc. No. 50. Howevef,[u]lnderlgbal’ the Court does “not consider
any conclusory allegations [such as] that there "&wa®rrupt conspiracy,an agreementor ‘an understanding in
place betweenr the defendantsGreat W. Mining 615 F.3cat 178 (citingD.R., 972 F.2dat 1377)

15 Counts LXXXVII & LXXXVII. Three of the counts are separately labeleXXXVII.

18 |mbler v. Pachtmam424 U.S. 409, 4228 (1976).

47Seevan de Kamp v. Goldstgif55 U.S. 335, 344 (2009) (holding that a District Attorney is immune from §1983
claims alleginga failure properly to train prosecutors, a failure properly to supenisequtorsanda failure to
establish an information system containing potential impeachmentimhateout informanis see also idat 349
(“[W] e conclude that petitioners are entitled to absolute immunity in respect tstéhbddclaims that their
supervision, training, or informatiesystem management wasstitutionally inadequat§.
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“administrative rather than judicial considerations of the prosectft®tTraining and policy
decisions that require legal knowledge and discretion are related to proséturictians and
are unlike administrative tasks concerning personyiélTherefore, the claims against Steele, in
his individual capacity, will be dismissed.

The claims against Steele in hifi@al capacity are actually against Montgomery
County®° These claims will be dismissed for two reasons. First, because, as exptained a
there was probable cause to prosecute'ftipast’s constitutional rights were not violat&d.
Second, as also explained abdweesucceed on a suit alleging municipal liability, Yoast must
demonstrate a policy or custom that lead to a violation of his righittowever, Yoast has failed
to set forth any factual allegations to substantiate the alleged ctrétbherefore these clans
will be dismissed as well.

D. State Law Claims Againstthe Pottstown DefendantsLegal Aid, and
Wisler Pearlstine

Yoast also alleges state law claims against various of the Pottstown Defftiaagsl

Aid,*®® and Wisler Pearlstirté’ related to the § 1983aims against those defendahts.

M8 santos v. New Jerse393 F. App’'x 893, 894 (3d Cir. 2010).

49 Hyatt v. Cty. of Passai®40 F. App’x 833, 83637 (3d Cir. 2009).

10 see Kentucky v. Graha#73 U.S. 159, 166 (1985).

51 Hyatt, 340 F. App’xat 838.

152 SeeBergddl v. City of York515 F. App'x 165, 172 (3d Cir. 2013)

153 SeeThomas 749 F.3dat 222 (citing Monell, 436 U.Sat 691).

54 Yoast only alleges, in conclusory fashion, that Steele “has establishied@mstitutional local custom of
maliciously prosecutingharges against Defendants who have been accused of committing crimeasthaddte
purpose of patronizing the local police departments stationed throughatgdieery County,” Doc. No. 50 at 190;
see alsdestate of Romarg14 F.3d at 798 (demonstraginustom through nespaper articles, a consent decree, and
press releases). Moreover, with regard to Yoast's failure to adoptca plalim, he has failed to plead sufficient
facts to show that “the need to take some action to control the agents of¢hengent is so obviss, and the
inadequacy of existing practice so likely to result in the violation n$titutional rights, that the policymaker can
reasonably be said to have been deliberately indifferent to the MNadlg 318 F.3dat 584.

155 CountsXXIV, XXXII, XXXVI 1, XLIIl, XLVI, XCIII.

156 Counts XVII & XVIII.

157 Counts XV & XVI.

1581n Count XCIII, Yoast asserts a claim for Intentional Infliction of Ematiddistress against all of the Pottstown
Defendants, Hussain, Hallinger, and Leon Smith.
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However, “[flederal courts are courts of limited jurisdictibif’and “[u]nder 28 U.S.C. § 1367,
‘a prerequisite to the federal court’s exercise of pendent jurisdiction @lainéff's state law
claims is that at least ordaim based on the court’s original diversity or federal question
jurisdiction is before the court*®°“It is well established that in an action with both federal and
state claims, ‘if the federal claims atismissed before trial, even though not insaital in a
jurisdictional sense, the state claims should be dismissed as #&Ms no federal claims
remain against these Defendants, and there are no remaining claifdetivatfrom a common
nucleus obperative fact the pendent state law claiméivibe dismissed®?
E. Pennsylvania Drug Nuisance Law & Negligence Per Se Claims

Yoast asserts a claim under the Pennsylvania Drug Nuisanc&lamgainst Edward
Forbes, Jeanne Forbes, Adrian Smith, Leon Smith, and Halfiffgend a negligence per se
claim aganst the Forbesé$? alleging thathey have taken actions that reduce his property
value. As all theclaims relating to the events at the hous Pottstown have been dismissed, the

Court will not exercise supplemental jurisdiction over these claims, vitighy case are

159 Kokkonen v. Guardiahife Ins. Co. of Am511 U.S. 375, 377 (1994) (internal citations omitted)

180 Fleming v. WarrenNo. 192926, 2019 WL 5086962, at *6 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 10, 2019) (cRiolite v. RendeINo.
085329, 2010 WL 1254334, at *4 (E.D. Pa. Apr2010).

181 Chernavsky v. Twp. of Holmdel Police Dgpl36 F. Appx 507, 511 (3d Cir. 2005juotingUnited Mine
Workers of Am. v. Gibb883 U.S. 715, 7261966) (codified by 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3) (2004pe alsdByrd v.
Shannon715 F.3d 117, 128 (3d Cir. 201®endel] 2010 WL 1254334, at *quoting28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3)
(“When ‘the district court has dismissed all claims over which it has originatljctiisn, the district court has the
express authority to decline toeggise supplementalijisdiction over any related state law claifns.

162 Gibbs 383 U.Sat 725;see alsis v. Cty. of Schuylkil§66 F. Supp. 1462, 1480 (E.D. Pa. 1994) Plant v.
Frazier,564 F. Supp. 1095, 1098 (E.D. Pa. 198&)ng Aldinger v. Fbward, 427 U.S. 1976) (declining to
exercise jurisdiction over state law claims against defendants wiomgerlhad federal claims even though there
were still federal claims against another defend&auszanski v. Fabe$60 F. Supp. 3, 5 (E.D. PER82)(same).
Moreovwer, retaining jurisdiction “would not be in the interest of judicial econamy fairness to the litigantis,
866 F. Suppat148Q

16342 Pa.C.S.A. § 838&t seq.

164 Count XCI.

165 Count XCII.
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“totally unrelated to a cause of action under federal’l&# These claims will be dismissed
without prejudice to assertion in the appropriate state court.
F. Claims Related to the Denial of Medical Care

Yoast asserts claims against D8eHoch %8 VanDorick 1% and Stein’® based on the
failure to provide him with a CPAP maalk,!’* and against Montgomery Counhtgyand
PrimeCare Medical®based on municipal liability.

“Section 1983, enacted as part of the Civil Rights Act of 1871, establishes a federal
remedy against a person who, acting under color of state law, deprives araibrestiutional
rights.”’4 The Constitution requires that “prison officials must ensure that inmatesaeceiv
adequate food, clothing, shelter, and medical care, and must ‘tedanadle measures to
guarantee the safety of the inmate'$Therefore, the Sareme Court has established that
prison officials violate the Constitution by “intentionally denying or delagogess to medical
care. "6 To state a claim, Plaintiff must alletfeat he had a serious medical and that the

Defendants acted with deliberatalifference to his health or saféet.

166 yon 45 F.3d at 761. Yoasttains the ability to file suih state court.

167 Counts LXIV & LXVI.

168 Counts LXVII (Yoast labels multiple counts as LXVII).

169 Counts LXX & LXXII.

170 Counts LXXIII & LXXV.

1yoast also asserts claims against these defendants in their official capatntiever, as explained above,
beause tlaims against government officials in their official capacities are analyzedisipal liability claims
against the municipality that employs thémhese claims will be dismissed as duplicative of the claims sigain
Montgomery County and Primef@aFitzgerald 2017 WL 3310676, at *6 (citation omitted).

172 Counts LXXVI-LXXXIV.

173 Counts LXVII (Yoast labels multiple counts as LXVII).

174 Burella v. City of Philadelphia501 F.3d 134, 139 (3d Cir. 20Q(¢jtations omitted). None of the defendants
disput that they were acting under color of state law. Therefore, the Cimgptisy is limited to determining
whether Yoast was deprived of a constitutional right.

SFarmer v. Brennan511 U.S. 825, 8 (1994)(quotingHudson v. Palmeri68 U.S. 517, 52627 (1984).

176 pearson v. Prison Health Ser850 F.3d 526, 534 (3d Cir. 201(fuotingEstelle v. Gamble429 U.S. 97104
05(1979).

7 Typically, denialof medical care claims are asserted undeEtgath Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and
unusual punisment.See idat534. However, becauséoastwas a pretrial detainee, his “claim should be evaluated
under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, as oppbsefigiith AmendmentEdwards v.
Northampton Cty 663 F. Apjx 132, 135 (3d Cir2016)(citing Hubbard v. Taylor399 F.3d 150, 166 (3d Cir.
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“A medical need is ‘serious,’ . . . ifitis ‘one that has been diagnosed by a phyascia
requiring treatment or one that is so obvithat a lay person would easily recognize the
necessity for a doctorattention.”*’8 At least one other district court in this Circuit has held that
sleep apnea is a serious medical conditi@ajthough the Third Circuit has not ruled on whether
“sleep apnea constitutes a serious medical nE€d.”

Yoast asserts that he wasghased with sleep apnea and that the failure to provide him
with a CPAP machine caused “sufferance to Plaintiff, suffocation and sudlstificiency in
the adequacy of his breathing when he slé&ptTherefore, at this stage, the Court will assume
that Yoast had a serious medical need.

Deliberate indifference is a “subjective standard of liability consistehtnetklessness
as that term is defined in criminal la#?? To act with delilerate indifference is to “recklessly
disregard a substantial risk of seritissm.® “[F]inding a prison official liable for violating a

prisoner’s Eighth Amendment rights requires proof that the official ‘knows of anglgdirds an

2005). Nevertheless, because “the Fourteenth Amendment affords pretrial detagteesqms at least as great as
the Eighth Amendmentrptections available to a convicted prison&dtale 318 F.3dat581 (citation and internal
guotation omitted), the Court will evaluateast's§ 1983 claims “under the same standard used to evaluate similar
claims brought under the Eighth AmendmeiMdore v. Luffey767 F. App’x 335, 340 (citinblatale 318 F.3d at
581-82); see alsd&dwards 663 F. Appx at 135 Moreover, because the partieydargued the motions pursuant to
the deliberate indifference standarthe Court applies that standard for the purposes of these mbtitetsadden

v. Dalmasj No. 175787, 2019 WL 6218220, at *6 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 21, 2019) (appealMithdden v. Dalmasi
No.19-3823(3d. Cir. 2019)). Additionally, because the Court applies the Eighter&@iment standard, all of the
duplicative counts will be dismissed.

8 Monmouth Cty. Corr. Institutional Inmates v. Lanza#84 F.2d 326, 347 (3d Cir. 198guotingPace v

Fauver, 479 F.Supp. 456, 458 (D.N1079),affd, 649 F.2d 860 (3d Cil.981).

19 Perry v. EbbertNo. 18870, 2019 WL 1424618, at *10 (M.D. Pa. Mar. 29, 2019)

180 Baker v. Younkin529 F. Appx 114, 116 (3d Cir. 2013)

8l Doc. No. 50 at 168The Supreme Couhtasexplained that a plaintiff'allegation of harm must “liberally
construed.’Erickson v. Parduss51 U.S. at 93, 94 (2007).

182 Natalg 318 F.3d at 58 (quotingNicini v. Morra, 212 F.3d 798, 811 (3d Cir. 2000)).

183 Baker v. Younkin529 F. App’x 114, 115 (3d Cir. 2013) (quotiGges v. Kearney571 F.3d 318, 330 (3d Cir.
2009).
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excessive risk to inmate health or safet{#*The Court will assess the clasmas to each
Defendant.
1. Hoch

Yoast asserts that during a “perfunctory and general consultation withdaeteHoch,
who was acting in the capacity of a certified medical assistant,” Hoch “wasexqithat Plaintiff
suffered from sleep apnea and it was requested thabkigle Plaintiff with a [CPAP] machine
to aid his medical condition:®® After Hoch asked Yoast whether a family member could bring
him a CPAP machine, Hoch told Yoast that he would cifeble prison had an available CPAP
machine. However, Yoast allegémt that Hoch “did not attempt to secure a machine for him or
have any other prison official render medical aid on his beH&If.”

Hoch argues that, at most, he was negligent in failirsgtore a CPAP machine because
Yoast did “not allege he suffered amvarse affects of not utilizing the machine” and &y
have simply believed Plaintiff was going to have his personal machine broupbtfacility.8’
However, Yoast alleges that he suffocated and was unable to breathe as a nestilaweing the
CPAP machine. Moreover, Hoch only asked if a family member or friend would bdiriag
a CPAP machine, “if necessar¥#? Yoast asserts, though, that Hoch assured him that he would
checkwith the prison if they had a CPAP machine, but that Hoch did not do so. Theatttiis,
preliminary stageYoast has stated sufficient facts to show that Hoch knew of an excessive risk

to health or safety, but disregarded the risk.

184 Natalg 318 F.3d at 58 (quotingFarmer, 511 U.S.at837); see alsdGunter v. Twp. of LumbertpB35 F. Appx
144, 149 (3d Cir. 2013)heCourt notes that none of the individual defendants raised the defensdifeddjua
immunity.

185Doc. No. 50 at 166.

186 |d

87Doc. No. 601 at 7.

88 Doc. No. 50 at 164.
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2. VanDorick and Stein
Plaintiff alleges that VanDorick and Stein knew that he had sleep apnea and that he
requested a CPAP machine, but he does not allege that he told them that the lack diititee mac
caused any problems other than that he was snoring loudly, which “was disturbing the other
inmates at night and causing them to be restfé8/bast alleges that both VanDorick and Stein
dismissed his request. Yoast also alleges that Stein, at least, knew thdiatblbsen seen by
medical pesonnel, who were in a position totedemine the necessity of the treatment. Given
these allegations, Plaintiff has failed to state a claim that VanDorick amdh@atkactual
knowledge or a reason to believe that Yoast had serious medical needs that were not being
treated by medical persoriné®
3. Montgomery County
Yoast alleges three separdenell claims against Montgomery County. First, he alleges
that “Montgomery County PA, has a custom or practice of thwarting the legitmeatieal
needs of every ptrial detainee, or convicted inmate, who is incarcerated in the Montgomery
County Correctional Facility, who suffers from sleep apnea, by failure to equgies with
[CPAF machines and flagrantly ignoring requests to render medical%i8&cond, he kges
that Montgomery County has failed to provide “adequate training of their new estidgx
prison guards, to constitutionally address the medical necessities of the pnglooédr@ve been
diagnosed with sleep apnea and are entitled to the renditinadical aid.*%? Third, he alleges

that Montgomery County “has failed to adopt the necessary internal operatirig9tiiat

189 Doc. No. 50at 170.

190 seeMatthews v. Pa. Dep't of Cory.613 F. App’x 163170-71 (3d Cir. 2015)citing Spruill v. Gillis, 372 F.3d
218, 236 (3d Cir2004).

1 Doc. No. 50 at 17273.

1921d, at 176.
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memorialize the guidance and procedure to be implemented by their employeesi wtisoner
has diagnosed sleep apriéa.

a. Unconstitutional Custom

“Custom . . . can be proven by showing that a given course of conduct, although not
specifically endorsed or authorized by law, is so well-settled and pernmameintually to
constitute law.** However, “[a]lthough a policy or cumh is necessary to plead a municipal
claim, it is not sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss. A plaintiff must also allege that the
policy or custom was the ‘proximate cause’ of his injurf®$ A showing of causation, based on
a custom, requires a plaifi to show “that policymakers were aware of similar unlawful conduct
in the past, but failed to take precautions against future violations, and that this &ilaast in
part, led to their injury

Yoast argues thaturing his eleven days of conément he was denied a CPAP machine
three separate times, and also asserts that he witnessed another inmatesideplragahea but
was denied a CPAP machiti®. However, beyond conclusory allegations that MCCF
consistently refused to provide CPAP machines to pretrial detainees, Yoast abegeacthat
any policymakers were aware of similar condif8herefore, this claim will be dismissed.

b. Failure to train
As explained above, when municipal liability is based on a failure to train, “liabilit

under sectin 1983 requires a showing that the failure amounts to ‘deliberate indifference’ to the

rights of persons with whom those employees will come into cont&ct[D]eliberate

1931d. at 179.

194 Estate of Romar914 F.3d at 798 (quotirBjelevicz 915 F.2dat 850).
195d. (citing Kneipp v. Tedde®5 F.3d1199, 1213 (3d Cir. 1996

196 Bjelevicz 915 F.2dat 850

197Doc. No. 90 at 67.

198 See Saleen2013 WL 5763206, at *2

199Thomas 749 F.3cat 222 (quotingCarter, 181 F.3cat 357).
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indifference’ is a stringent standard of fault, requiring proof that a muniagai disregarded a
known or obvious consequence of his actiéi.”

However, Yoast has not “identif[ied] any facts detailing specific defodésnin any
training programs2°! Rather, he has merely stated a conclusory allegation that MCCF failed to
train prison guards properly. Moreover, Yoast “has aded to allege any facts showing that a
[MCCF] policymaker knew or should have known that the [MCCF’s] current trainingigsli
would” lead to a violation of Yoast's right§? Therefore because Yoast “made dasory and
general claims of failure to . train,” this claim will be dismissetf?

c. Failure to adopt policies

As explained above, an entity can be liable when a “policymaker has failed to act
affirmatively at all, [though] the need to take some actiorotdrol the agents of the government
is so obvious, and the inadequacy of existing practice so likely to result in the violation of
constitutional rights, that the policymaker can reasonably be said to have bberatkly
indifferent to the need?®*“Such failures to act, however, ‘can ordinarily be considered
deliberate indifference only where the failure has caused a pattern of viela&tn

However, beyond conclusory allegations, Yoast has failed to sufficielgfyead pattern

of violations that would have made the need to take action obvious. Moreover, he has also

200d, at 224 (quotind@rown, 520 U.Sat410).

201 Niblack 2013 WL4432081, at *9.

202 Fitzgerald 2017 WL 3310676, at *1%ee alsdRobinson v. Fair Acres Geriatric Cff722 F. App’x 194, 198 (3d
Cir. 2018) (‘Nor did Hope allege that her injuries were caused by affirmative actiong athofa particular
policymaker?).

203\Wood 568 F. App’x at 104.

204 Natalg 318 F.3cat 584 (3d Cir. 2003]citations omitted).

205Marvel v. Delaware Cty.No. 0725054, 2009 WL 1544928, at *21 (E.D. Pa. June 2, 2GGB) sub nomMarvel
v. Cty. of Delawarg397F. App’x 785 (3d Cir. 2010) (quotingerg v. County of Allegheng219 F.3d 261, 276 (3d
Cir. 2000)
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“failed to identify any policymaker or decisionmaker responsible for thendal conduct
alleged.”?® Therefore, this claim will also be dismissed.
4. PrimeCare

Liberally construing Yoast’s Goplaint, he alleges a failute-adopt a poly claim
against PrimeCare based on a sifigtadent theory?®’ Although, as explained above, generally
a plaintiff must plead a pattern of violations, “[t]o find deliberate indiffeeenam a single
incident violation, the risk of [Yoast's] injury must be a ‘highly predictable conseguef
[PrimeCare’s] failure to” adopt a poli&® The “burden on the plaintiff in such a case is
high.”209

Yoast’s claim fails because his allegation that PrimeCare doémweta policy “to
address the medical needs of inesatvith serious medical conditions” is a conclusory allegation
which the Court does not credi Moreover, to the extent that Yoast alleges that PrimeCare
failed to adopt a policy specifically requiringgt CPAP machines be provided to all prisoners

with sleep apnea, “[i]t is not obvious that the existing policies of [PrimeCare]di@aue been
insufficient to address the serious medical needs of prisoners’ includingfptait Therefore,
the claims against PrimeCare will be dismissed as well.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court grants Defendants Justin O’'Donoghue amd Wisle

Pearlstine’s Motion to Dismiss, Defendants Edward Forbes and Jeanne Forbeés'stivl

Dismiss, Defendants Donald Cheetham and Legal Aid of Southeastern PennsyMati@sto

206\Wood 568 F. App’x at 104.

207Doc. No. 90 at 9.

208 Thomas 749 F.3dat 222 (quotingConnick 563 U.S. at 64).

209Berg, 219 F.3cht 276 (citation omitted).

210Doc. No. 90 a72.

211 Simonds v. Delaware CiyNo. 137565, 2015 WL 1954364, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 30, 2015) (quddicgson v.
Cnty. of Gloucester N.JJNo. 05-1444, 2007 WL 928477, at *5 (D.N.J. M&fZ, 2007).
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Dismiss, the Pottstown Defendants’ Motion to Disméssd Defendants Montgomery County,
Kevin Steele, Timothy Stein, and Ryan VanDorick’s Motion to Dismiss. The Camtggin part
and denies ipart Defendants Anthony Hoch and PrimeCare Medidadton to Dismiss.

In civil rights cases, “district courts must offer amendméantspective of whether it is
requested-when dismissing a case for failure to state a claim unless doing so would be
inequitable or futile.2'? Plaintiff has already had thapportunity to file an Amended Complaint
in response to the first round of motions to dismiss, and in the Aedegbdmplaint, Plaintiff has
set forth his claims in exhaustive detail, the Defendants have painstakisyginded, and the
Court has compreheingly ruled on each clainBecause Yoast has stated a claim against Hoch
for deliberate indifference to seriomgedical needs, the Court will allow him to file a Second
Amended Complaint against VanDorick, Stein, Montgomery County, and PrimeCare, with
regad to the deliberate indifference claims only, if he is able to do so in accorddahdbev
Memorandum OpiniorDespitespanning hundreds of pages, dliegationsagainst the other
defendantgail to state any viable clainsdemming from his arrests and prosecutions. Therefore,

the Court determines that amendment as to the rest of the claims would be futileqandbie

212 FletcherHarlee Corp. v. Pote Concret@ontractors, Inc.482 F.3d 247, 251 (3d Cir. 2007).
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